



Control of runoff chemistry by processes in the near-stream zone

Licentiate Thesis

by

Jens Fölster

Department of Environmental Assessment Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences Box 7050 SE-750 07 UPPSALA

Rapport 1999:5

1999





Control of runoff chemistry by processes in the nearstream zone

Jens Fölster

Akademisk avhandling som för vinnande av filosofie licentiatexamen kommer att offentligen försvaras i Sal L i undervisningshuset, SLU, onsdagen den 15 september, 1999, kl.13.

Abstract

The near-stream zone has been identified as an important control of runoff chemistry. In northern forested areas, near-stream zones have been found to be both natural sources and sinks for acidity. The near-stream zone can be a buffer against acidity by cation exchange and sulphate reduction. Oxidation of sulphide and leaching of organic acids are natural sources of acidity from the near-stream zone. A relatively high pH and base saturation in the near-stream zone favours nitrogen cycling processes. Hence, the near-stream zone has a potential to control nitrogen leaching from the catchment. Nitrogen can be retained by denitrification, microbial immobilisation and plant uptake. On the other hand, mineralisation, nitrification and leaching of organic matter can make the near-stream zone into a source for nitrogen to the stream water. The geomorphology and the hydrological flow paths are likely to be crucial for the function of the near-stream zone.

This thesis reports the results from an investigation on a small forested catchment in central south Sweden, designed to clarify the effect of processes in the near-stream zone on acidity and nitrogen chemistry in runoff. Both hydrological and water chemistry data suggested that runoff was dominated by superficial ground water, which agrees with what is commonly found in Swedish till soils. The Kindla catchment is heavily affected by acidification with a pH in the stream water between 4.4 and 4.6. Despite the severe acidification, there were no indications of forest decline at the Kindla catchment that retains nitrogen in deposition efficiently. The leaching of inorganic nitrogen was only 3% of bulk deposition. There were no indications that the near-stream zone acted as a buffer against acidity or nitrogen leaching from upland soils. The main function of the near-stream zone at Kindla with respect to runoff chemistry was rather to serve as a source for organic acids and organic nitrogen and, to a small extent, nitrate and ammonium. The contribution of organic anions to acidity was however overshadowed by a high sulphate concentration, except during a spring flood episode when organic matter was flushed out. Indications of sulphate reduction in the ground water were found but this probably had no influence on stream water chemistry. Ammonium was almost only found during the spring flood episode, when 72% of the annual transport of ammonium in the stream took place. Nitrate was found more frequently, but mainly at concentrations below 100 μ g L⁻¹. This nitrate probably originated in the near-stream zone.

The results contrasted to what was found by other authors with respect to the influence of the near-stream zone on stream water chemistry. This would imply that since the function of the near-stream zone appears to vary greatly between catchments, there is a need for further catchment studies that also account for within catchment variation in order to achieve a more general picture of the impact of near-stream zones on runoff chemistry.

Distribution: Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences Dep. of Environmental Assessment Box 7050, 750 07 Uppsala, Sweden.

Uppsala 1999 ISSN 1403-977X. Rapport 1999:5

Control of runoff chemistry by processes in the near-stream zone

Till Harse med face for all high



Abstract

Jens, Fölster. 1999. Control of runoff chemistry by processes in the near-stream zone in forest soils. Licentiate dissertation, Uppsala. ISSN 1403-977X. Rapport 1999:5

The near-stream zone has been identified as an important control of runoff chemistry. In northern forested areas, near-stream zones have been found to be both natural sources and sinks for acidity. The near-stream zone can be a buffer against acidity by cation exchange and sulphate reduction. Oxidation of sulphide and leaching of organic acids are natural sources of acidity from the near-stream zone. A relatively high pH and base saturation in the near-stream zone favours nitrogen cycling processes. Hence, the near-stream zone has a potential to control nitrogen leaching from the catchment. Nitrogen can be retained by denitrification, microbial immobilisation and plant uptake. On the other hand, mineralisation, nitrification and leaching of organic matter can make the near-stream zone into a source for nitrogen to the stream water. The geomorphology and the hydrological flow paths are likely to be crucial for the function of the near-stream zone.

This thesis reports the results from an investigation on a small forested catchment in central south Sweden, designed to clarify the effect of processes in the nearstream zone on acidity and nitrogen chemistry in runoff. Both hydrological and water chemistry data suggested that runoff was dominated by superficial ground water, which agrees with what is commonly found in Swedish till soils. The Kindla catchment is heavily affected by acidification with a pH in the stream water between 4.4 and 4.6. Despite the severe acidification, there were no indications of forest decline at the Kindla catchment that retains nitrogen in deposition efficiently. The leaching of inorganic nitrogen was only 3% of bulk deposition. There were no indications that the nearstream zone acted as a buffer against acidity or nitrogen leaching from upland soils. The main function of the near-stream zone at Kindla with respect to runoff chemistry was rather to serve as a source for organic acids and organic nitrogen and, to a small extent, nitrate and ammonium. The contribution of organic anions to acidity was however overshadowed by a high sulphate concentration, except during a spring flood episode when organic matter was flushed out. Indications of sulphate reduction in the ground water were found but this probably had no influence on stream water chemistry. Ammonium was almost only found during the spring flood episode, when 72% of the annual transport of ammonium in the stream took place. Nitrate was found more frequently, but mainly at concentrations below 100 μ g L⁻¹. This nitrate probably originated in the near-stream zone.

The results contrasted to what was found by other authors with respect to the influence of the near-stream zone on stream water chemistry. This would imply that since the function of the near-stream zone appears to vary greatly between catchments, there is a need for further catchment studies that also account for within catchment variation in order to achieve a more general picture of the impact of near-stream zones on runoff chemistry.

Author's address: Jens Fölster, Department of Environmental Assessment, SLU, Box 1050, S-750 07 Uppsala, Sweden

Table of contents

List of papers		6
Background		7
Hydrology of near-stream zones	8	
Influence on acidity of the near-stream zone	10	
Nitrogen dynamics in the near-stream zone	11	
Objectives		12
Study area		13
Methods		13
Results and discussion		13
Superficial flow paths dominated in the near-stream zone (Paper I and II).	13	
The near-stream zone has a small influence on stream water acidity at the		
Kindla catchment (paper I).	14	
The near-stream zone is a source of nitrogen for the stream (paper II)	15	
Concluding remarks		17
References		19
Acknowledgement – Tack!		23

Appendix: Papers I-II

List of papers

The presented thesis is based on the following papers, which will be referred to by their Roman numbers.

- I Fölster, J. Significance of processes in the near-stream zone on stream water acidity in a small acidified forested catchment. Manuscript.
- II Fölster, J. The near-stream zone is a source of nitrogen in a Swedish forested catchment. Submitted to *Journal of Environmental Quality*

Background

Effects of deposition of anthropogenic acidifying and eutrophying pollutants has been a concern in Scandinavia since the early 1970's. In large parts of this region, sulphur deposition has caused acidification of surface waters. This has had disastrous effects on the biota in many lakes and streams. Nitrogen deposition has contributed to eutrophication in coastal waters (Olsson and Löfgren, 1990) and may have affected oligotrophic lakes as well (Smith, 1982; Wilander, 1995). During the last two decades sulphur emissions have decreased, but the recovery of surface waters appears to be slow (Wilander, 1997). For nitrogen the deposition has been constant during the last two decades but in most parts of Scandinavia at a level below the limit of 10 kg ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ when high nitrate leaching from forest soil can occur (Dise and Wright, 1995). Still the nitrogen deposition is up to several times above the natural background level and the long-term effect of this is not known. Negotiations for further reductions of emissions are going on, but better models for calculation of critical loads, a limit for harmful effects on the environment, are desirable (Rapp, 1998). Hence, a better knowledge of the long-term effect of deposition of pollutants is needed. Leaching from forest soils is of special interest since forests cover most of the area of Scandinavia and even small changes in leaching from these soils would have large effects on downstream surface waters.

The soils adjacent to the stream in what is often termed the "near-stream zone" have been identified as an important control of runoff chemistry (Bishop *et al.*, 1990; Simmons *et al.*, 1992; Hill, 1996; Cirmo and McDonnell, 1997). Climatically controlled variation between seasons and years in runoff chemistry has also been related to processes in the near-stream zone (DeVito and Dillon, 1993; LaZerte, 1993)

Although there is an agreement on the importance of the near-stream zone, the influence on runoff chemistry has been found to be highly variable between catchments. In northern forested areas, near-stream zones have been found to be both natural sources and sinks for acidity and nitrogen (Bishop, 1991; LaZerte, 1993; Norrström, 1995; Hill and DeVito, 1997; Lundin, 1998). The variable findings are, however, not surprising since these areas are hydrologically and biogeochemically complex. In the near-stream zone, water flowing along different pathways mixes and continues through soil layers with a high organic content where microbial activity and redox conditions vary significantly both in time and space. The geomorphology and the hydrological flow paths are likely to be crucial for the function of the near-stream zone, as well as the upslope conditions, deposition history and stage of acidification/recovery. Given the importance and complexity of the nearstream zone, there is a great need for further studies so that a more comprehensive understanding of its function can be achieved. This will improve the ability to predict the ecosystem status and future development at a more detailed scale than is now possible.

This thesis reports the results from an investigation on a small forested catchment in central south Sweden designed to clarify the effect of processes in the near-stream zone on acidity and nitrogen chemistry in runoff. The study area was located within a catchment that is part of a European program for integrated monitoring (IM) related to the UN/ECE Convention for Long Term Transboundary Air Pollution. The aim of the program is to differentiate between natural ecological variation and anthropogenic perturbations caused by air pollution as well as to predict long-term changes of the ecosystem through the application of dynamic modelling (Pylvänäinen, 1993). The results from the present study should be used for interpretation of data from the IM program. At the same time the IM-program supported the study with background data at a suitable temporal and spatial scale.

Hydrology of near-stream zones

The ground water flow pattern in the near-stream zone varies greatly, depending on the geomorphology of the catchment (Hill and DeVito, 1997). In deep aquifers with highly permeable soils, deep flow paths are important and close to the stream a discharge area with upward flow can be found. In the till soils covering most of the Scandinavian forests however, there is a marked decrease in hydraulic conductivity with increasing soil depth. This results in predominantly lateral flow in superficial ground water (Lundin, 1982; Bishop *et al.*, 1990) while the vertically upward flow is less important for the total discharge (Bishop, 1994).

The wet conditions in the near-stream zone favour the growth of *sphagnum* and formation of peaty soils. The depth, extent and hydraulic properties of the peat direct the flow pattern of the ground water through the last soil section before it discharges into the stream. The peat cover can be divided into a superficial layer consisting of living and undecomposed dead vegetation and an underlying anaerobic layer of more humified peat. The superficial layer is usually thinner and has a higher hydraulic conductivity compared to the underlying layer. Ground water may flow either in the mineral soil under the peat layer or through

the superficial peat layer. The latter flow path can be expected to become more important when the ground water level is raised. Flow through the impermeable humified peat layer can only occur if there exist macropores (Norrström, 1995). An intermediate layer between the peat and the mineral soil with a high hydraulic conductivity and organic content has also shown to be an important flow path (Bishop *et al.*, 1995). Many forest streams in Sweden have been ditched, which has lowered the flow paths through the near-stream zone (Bishop *et al.*, 1995) (Fig. 1).

Since different biogeochemical processes are located in different soil layers, the flow pattern in the near-stream zone is crucial to its influence on discharge chemistry. There are however, few studies that integrate hydraulic measurements with biogeochemical studies. Such studies are difficult to perform because of the large spatial variability. Instead a comparison of the chemistry in ground water and stream water has been suggested for finding the important flow paths (Fiebig *et al.*, 1990; Norrström, 1995)



Figure 1. Possible hydraulic flow paths in the near-stream zone in Scandinavian till soils with lateral flow in the superficial mineral soil as the dominating path.

Influence on acidity by the near-stream zone

The near-stream zone has been argued to act both as a natural buffer against acidification by cation exchange (Norrström, 1995) and as a natural source of organic acidity (Bishop *et al.*, 1990). The riparian peat cover offers a large pool of cation exchange sites and the base saturation has been found to be higher in downslope wetlands compared to upland soils (Norrström, 1995; Giesler *et al.*, 1998). At a former stage of acidification, hydrogen and aluminium ions in ground water from upland areas may be exchanged with base cations in the near-stream zone, then acting as a buffer against acidification (LaZerte, 1993). As the acidification of the soil continues, the base cation supply in the near-stream zone is exhausted and the acidification of the runoff increases.

The export of organic matter from the near-stream zone has been found in many studies (e.g. Bishop *et al.*, 1990; LaZerte, 1993). Further, the export of organic matter often increases during high flow events as a rise in ground water level alters the flow path into more organic rich soil layers. In low acid deposition areas as in Northern Sweden, the organic acids are the main source for acidity during flow peaks (Laudon and Bishop, 1999). The importance of flow paths for the export of acidity has been shown in a study of two adjacent ditched streams. A high leaching of organic matter from the near-stream zone was found in the stream with the deepest peat layer where the ground water level extended up into the peat and an organic rich intermediate layer. In the other stream, the peat cover was thinner and ditching had lowered the water table below the organic rich soil layer (Bishop, 1994).

Redox reactions of sulphur compounds can also have an impact on the acidity of the discharging ground water. In the water saturated organic soil near the stream, anaerobic conditions easily occur which can result in microbial reduction of sulphate into sulphide (DeVito, 1995). The process is a hydrogen consuming processes and hence microbial sulphate reduction may be a sink for acidity. In an area with riparian peat where the hydraulic conductivity was highly variable, the sulphate concentration was lowest where the permeability of the soil was lowest (Norrström, 1995). The results indicated that sulphate reduction only has an impact on the sulphate concentration in stagnant areas with a low contribution to runoff. This reduces the potential for the process to be important on a catchment basis. Furthermore, during dry years when the water table is low, sulphide is oxidised as the soil is aerated. This has an acidifying effect on the soil (LaZerte, 1993).

Nitrogen dynamics in the near-stream zone

Internationally, near-stream zones are recognised as important nitrogen retention sites (Havcock et al., 1993). Several processes may be involved (Fig. 2), but denitrification is the process that has been most noticed since it removes available nitrogen from the system whereas other processes such as plant uptake and microbial immobilisation only transform mobile forms into less mobile forms. Denitrification is the microbial reduction of nitrate into gaseous compounds such as dinitrogen oxide and elementary nitrogen. The process occurs under oxygen free conditions and is thus favoured by both the water-saturated conditions (Davidson and Swank, 1986; Ambus and Christensen, 1993) and the high content of organic matter in the near-stream zone (Federer and Klemedtsson, 1988). In most forests in Sweden, however denitrification does not usually take place because of the negligible concentrations of nitrate in the soil (Hallgren et al., 1996). During events with temporarily elevated nitrate concentrations however, denitrification may be important. Further, after clearcuts, when high nitrate concentrations are found (Vitousek et al., 1979) denitrification in downslope wetlands and near-stream zones can also be important (Rosén and Lundmark-Thelin, 1986; Jacks et al., 1994).

Other retaining mechanisms for nitrogen are plant uptake and microbial immobilisation where ammonium and nitrate is taken up and incorporated into the pool of soil organic matter. In the forests in most parts of Sweden, uptake and immobilisation in the canopy and the upper soil layer is enough to retain all the nitrogen in atmospheric deposition. Thus inorganic nitrogen is rarely found in soil leakage at 0.5 m depth (Hallgren et al., 1996). The organically bound nitrogen can then be decomposed into forms available for plant uptake. This internal circulation of nitrogen is in the range of 0.5 - 10 g m⁻² yr⁻¹ in Scandinavian forests (Löfgren, 1991). This can be compared to the total pool of soil organic matter, which is between 30 and 1000 g m⁻² (op. cit.). The atmospheric deposition, on the other hand, is in the range of 0.2 -1.0 g m⁻² yr⁻¹ (op. cit.). Ammonium may further be transformed into nitrate through nitrification. Nitrification is generally considered to be of less importance in undisturbed coniferous systems, but recent studies including measurements of gross nitrification using ¹⁵N dilution has shown both high (Stark and Hart, 1997) and low (Tietema, 1998) nitrification rates. A high pH and base saturation generally favour nitrogen cycling processes. Since downslope areas with the ground water level close to the ground surface, such as near-stream zones, have a relatively high pH and base saturation, the nitrogen turnover is expected to be high (Giesler et al., 1998). These areas have the potential to be

either sources or sinks for inorganic nitrogen in runoff. Budget studies have shown that both cases are found depending of hydrological flow paths and concentrations of nitrogen in the ground water coming from upland areas (Hill and DeVito, 1997; Lundin, 1998).

A general feature of near-stream zones is that they are more or less a source for organic nitrogen (Hill and DeVito, 1997; Lundin, 1998). The organic matter however, mostly consists of humic substances that are not easy available for algal growth and hence have a low eutrophying effect.



Figure 2. A conceptual model of the nitrogen turnover in a riparian wetland with ground water flowing through the soil. Closer to the stream anaerobic processes become more important.

Objectives

The objective of the investigation was to describe spatial and temporal variation of ground water and soil water chemistry in the near-stream zone as well as the relation of these to stream water chemistry in a small forested catchment. Furthermore, the spatial variation of hydraulic conductivity and spatial and temporal variation of ground water level and hydraulic potential was studied. The outcome was determination of the function of the near-stream zone with respect to nitrogen and acidity.

Study area

The main study area was located along a stream, bordered with riparian peat, running from a small poor fen (0.2 ha). The area is located within 12

Study area

The main study area was located along a stream, bordered with riparian peat, running from a small poor fen (0.2 ha). The area is located within the Kindla catchment that has been an object for Integrated Monitoring since 1997. The catchment is 19 ha and located in central south Sweden $(59^{\circ}45'\text{N}, 14^{\circ}55'\text{E})$ at an altitude of 320-410 m above mean sea level. This is above the highest coastline after the last glaciation. The soil material is a sandy silty till with low boulder frequency. Podzols are the dominant soil type, but close to the stream there are dystric gleysols and histosols. No forestry activities have been carried out during the last 100 years.

Methods

Ground water and soil water were sampled by using piezometers and ceramic cups respectively. A number of 24 locations were sampled three times during 1997. The piezometers were used for measuring ground water levels, hydraulic potential and hydrologic conductivity. Stream water was sampled biweekly at two gauges located upstream and downstream from the study area. A more intensive sampling was performed during a spring flow episode. Stream flow was recorded continuously at the gauges. Bulk deposition and throughfall were sampled monthly. All chemical analyses were made with standard methods. More details and maps of the study area are presented in papers I and II.

Results and discussion

Superficial flow paths dominated in the near-stream zone (Paper I and II).

Both hydrological and water chemistry data suggested that runoff was dominated by superficial ground water, which agrees with what is commonly found in Swedish till soils. An upward flow component, measured as an increase in hydraulic potential with depth, was only measured occasionally in a few points, and there was no area of permanent upward flow. Furthermore, the concentrations of base cations and silica found in ground water in upper soil layers in the near-stream zone were close to what was found in the stream. The concentrations in ground water at 1 m depth however, were much higher. Thus the contribution from this flow path must have been negligible, presuming that there was no decrease in concentrations as the ground water moved towards the stream.

In the near-stream locations the ground water table was close to the ground surface even at base flow. Here the highly conductive superficial peat may have been a significant flow path, especially during flow peaks. A comparison of the C/N ratio in the dissolved organic matter in the stream water and ground water at different levels, indicated that the intermediate layer below the peat cover was the most important flow path. These results could however, also have been caused by a higher leaching rate of organic matter in the intermediate zone.

The near-stream zone has a small influence on stream water acidity at the Kindla catchment (paper I).

The Kindla catchment is heavily affected by acidification with a pH in the stream water between 4.4 and 4.6 and an acid neutralising capacity (ANC) of $-84 - -21 \mu eq L^{-1}$. The normal variation in stream water pH with dips during flow peaks was not seen since the ground water discharging during base flow was already acidified. Sulphate was the dominant anion, which means that sulphuric acid is probably the dominant source of acidity. However the sulphur transport out of the catchment, 70 meq m⁻² yr⁻¹, was more than twice as high as the input with throughfall, 30 meq m⁻² yr⁻¹. Since the sulphate concentration decreased slightly in the ground water along the transects towards the stream, the source for sulphate can not have been the near-stream zone but rather desorption from iron and aluminium oxides in the B-horizon of podzols in upslope areas (Karltun, 1995).

The tendencies of decrease in sulphate as the ground water moved down the slope, and a correlation of low sulphate concentrations with anoxic conditions, implied microbial reduction of sulphate to sulphide in the near-stream zone. Since this process consumes acidity, the process reduces the sulphur related acidification of the ground water. Locations with decreased sulphate concentrations were however, mostly found in transects with small upland areas and hence contributing little to stream discharge. Further, the sulphate concentration was correlated to calculated ground water flow velocity, although not significantly. This indicates that sulphate reduction was more significant in locations with a lower contribution to stream flow. The comparison of sulphate concentrations in ground water with stream water also suggested that the influence of sulphate reduction was negligible for stream water chemistry. Hence, the results agree with what was found by Norrström (1995).

A small peak in calcium concentration at the beginning of a spring flow episode indicated a small buffering of acidity by cation exchange in the near-stream zone. However it only influenced stream water acidity by c. $0.02 \text{ meq } L^{-1}$. When the discharge had reached its maximum, the calcium peak was gone. Besides the episode, there were no indications of buffering by cation exchange in the near-stream zone, as was suggested by Norrström (1995). The results from Kindla are rather closer to the findings by Bishop et al. (1990) that the near-stream zone is a source for acidity by leaching of dissolved organic carbon. In Kindla however, the organic acidity was overshadowed by sulphate during base flow. During the episode, though, the impact of organic anions became important. The sulphate concentration during the episode decreased due to dilution of ground water with precipitation lower in sulphate, while the concentration of organic anions increased due to flushing of organic matter. At the flow peak, the concentration of dissociated organic acid anions was equal to that of sulphate anions. This is an indication that there was a natural component of episodic acidification on this site prior to anthropogenic acidification.

The near-stream zone is a source of nitrogen for the stream (paper II)

Despite the severe acidification, there were no indications of forest decline at the Kindla catchment that retains nitrogen in deposition efficiently both in the forest canopy and the soil. This is in agreement with other findings that the earlier fears (Fleischer and Stibe, 1989) that acidification would lead to forest decline followed by high nitrate leaching have not been fulfilled (Binkley and Högberg, 1997). No inorganic nitrogen was found in the ground water at upslope locations and the concentration of DON was low, c. 100 μ g N L⁻¹.

According to the findings in ground water and soil water, the near-stream zone was the main source for runoff nitrate in this catchment (see below). The nitrogen leaching however was small. The export from the catchment was only 0.04 kg NO₃-N (ha yr)⁻¹ and 0.1 kg NH₄-N (ha yr)⁻¹ which can be compared to 2.9 kg NO₃-N (ha yr)⁻¹ and 2.6 kg NH₄-N (ha yr)⁻¹ in bulk deposition. For ammonium and organic nitrogen, a large part of the annual transport in the stream took place during the few days of the spring flow episode and was missed by the biweekly sampling program of the integrated monitoring. If the transport was estimated

solely by the biweekly samples, the transport of ammonium and organic nitrogen was underestimated by 72% and 30 % respectively, compared to when episode samples were included.

The concentrations of inorganic nitrogen in ground water and soil water was generally low. In near-stream locations, nitrate only occurred occasionally and locally, usually when the ground water level was lowered. Furthermore, nitrate was predominantly found in locations with relatively high pH and high concentrations of dissolved oxygen. Since nitrification is an oxygen demanding process and is favoured by high pH. the findings indicated that the nitrate found in the soil originated from nitrification coupled to mineralization of organic matter in the soil. The spring flow excluded, nitrate only occurred temporarily in the stream and mainly at concentrations below 100µg L⁻¹. Since nitrate was correlated to increasing concentrations of silica in the stream, it was concluded that nitrate in the stream had a microbial origin, and was not caused by precipitation passing directly to the stream. A high contribution of precipitation would give a decrease in silica concentration, which was found during the spring flow episode when no nitrate was found in the stream water.

The ammonium concentrations showed a totally different distribution pattern, both in time and space. In the ground water, ammonium was found at stable concentrations in the near stream zone in locations with low oxygen concentrations. Since no ammonium was found in the stream, with the exception of the spring flood, it is possible that the ammonium rich locations were primarily soils with low hydraulic conductivity that made a small contribution to runoff. During the spring flood, an ammonium concentration up to 90 μ g L⁻¹ was found. The ammonium peak was probably caused by both flushing in the beginning of the episode and direct contribution from the atmospheric deposition at peak flow.

The nitrate concentration was negligible during the whole spring flow episode, which indicates that the nitrate in the precipitation must have been retained, either by microbial immobilisation or by denitrification. The magnitude of this retention was in the order of 2 g N ha-⁻¹ h⁻¹. The retention rate is unexpectedly high since the temperature was close to 0°C. If ammonium from the precipitation passed to a large extent unaltered through the catchment during the episode, it is unlikely that nitrate was immobilised since ammonium is preferred to nitrate by microbes. Denitrification however has been found to be favoured by freezing and thawing that releases available carbon. Indications of release of fresh microbial carbon during the episode were found in a decrease of the C/N ratio of the dissolved organic matter in the stream water.

The near-stream zone was the main source for organic nitrogen as well. The concentration of organic nitrogen increased progressively as the ground water moved down the slope. The C/N ratio in the ground water in the near-stream zone was higher in the organic soil compared to the underlying soil layers. In the stream, the C/N ratio was close to the ratio in the transition zone between organic and mineral soil in the near stream soil profile. Hence, this soil layer was probably the main source of organic matter during base flow. The dissolved organic matter in forest streams mainly consists of recalcitrant humic substances that have low value as a nitrogen source in downstream lake production (Wetzel, 1983). A flush of fresh microbial organic nitrogen during spring flow may however be of ecological relevance.

Concluding remarks

There were no indications that the near-stream zone acted as a buffer against acidity or nitrogen leaching from upland soils. The main function of the near-stream zone at Kindla with respect to runoff chemistry was rather to serve as a source for organic acids and organic nitrogen and, to a small extent, nitrate and ammonium. In the present acidified state of the soil and stream, the near-stream zone only had little influence on acidity of water passing from the upslope region into the stream. In the near future, however, when the acidity related to adsorbed sulphate is washed out from the soil, it is likely that the influence of organic anions from the near-stream zone will be of more importance. It is likely that the base saturation of the soil has decreased during the last decades of acidification. At the onset of acidification, the near-stream zone may have had a buffering effect, but as the acidification continued, the supply of exchangeable base cations may have been exhausted (LaZerte, 1993; Norrström, 1995).

The results in this study contrasted with what was found by both Bishop *et al.*, (1990) and Norrström, (1995) with respect to the influence of the near-stream zone on stream water acidity. Since the function of the near-stream zone appears to be totally different between catchments, there is a need for further catchment studies that also account for within catchment variation in order to achieve a more general picture of the impact of near-stream zones on stream chemistry. The function of these zones is also likely to change over time. It is therefore important that they are included

in long term monitoring programs so that any changes in the catchment budget could be interpreted in a more informed way.

The findings of the small-scale spatial and temporal variation have some important implications for long term monitoring of near-stream zones. The large spatial variation of ground water and soil water makes it expensive to make reliable estimations of the different elements in these compartments. A study of the covariation in time between different locations within the catchment would show if an economically reasonable number of sampling points is enough to describe the temporal variation in concentrations in ground water and soil water. For modelling and the study of trends this would be enough since only the dynamics of the concentrations are needed.

References

- Ambus, P. and Christensen, S. (1993). Denitrification variability and control in a riparian fen irrigated with agricultural drainage water. *Soil Biol. Biochem.* 25(7): 915-923.
- Binkley, D. and Högberg, P. (1997). Does atmospheric deposition of nitrogen threaten Swedish forests. Forest Ecology and Management 92(1-3): 119-152.
- Bishop, K. (1994). *Return flow in till slopes*, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Dept. of Forest Ecology.
- Bishop, K., Lee, Y. H., Pettersson, C. and Allard, B. (1995). Terrestrial sources of methylmercury in surface waters: the importance of the riparian zone on the Svartberget catchment. *Water Air Soil Pollut*. 80(1/4): 435-444.
- Bishop, K. H. (1991). Episodic increases in stream acidity, catchment flow pathways and hydrograph separation, University of Cambridge.
- Bishop, K. H., Grip, H. and O'Niell, A. (1990). The origin of acid runoff in a hillslope during storm events. J. Hydrol. 116: 35-61.
- Bishop, K. H., Grip, H. and Piggot, E. (1990). The significance of spatespecific flow pathways in an episodically acid stream. *The Surface Water Acidification Programme*. B. J. Mason. London, Royal Society: 107-119.
- Cirmo, C. P. and McDonnell, J. J. (1997). Linking the hydrological and biogeochemical controls of nitrogen transport in near-stream zones of temperate-forested catchments: a review. J. Hydrol. 199: 88-120.
- Davidson, E. A. and Swank, W. T. (1986). Environmental parameters regulating gaseous nitrogen losses from two forested ecosystems via nitrification and denitrification. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 52(6): 1287-1292.
- DeVito, K. J. (1995). Sulphate mass balance of Precambrian Shield wetlands: the influence of catchment hydrogeology. *Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci.* 52: 1750-1760.
- DeVito, K. J. and Dillon, P. J. (1993). The influence of hydrological conditions and peat oxia on the phosphorus and nitrogen dynamics of a conifer swamp. *Water Resour. Res.* 29(8): 2675-2685.

- Dise, N. B. and Wright, R. F. (1995). Nitrogen leaching from European forests in relation to nitrogen deposition. *Forest Ecology and Management* 71: 153-161.
- Federer, C. A. and Klemedtsson, L. (1988). Some factors limiting denitrification in slurries of acid forest soils. *Scand. J. For. Res.* 3(4): 425-435.
- Fiebig, D. M., Lock, M. A. and Neal, C. (1990). Soil water in the riparian zone as a source of carbon for a headwater stream. J. Hydrol. 116: 217-237.
- Fleischer, S. and Stibe, L. (1989). Agriculture kills fish in the 1980s. Who is responsible for fish kills in the year 2000? *Ambio* 18(6): 347-350.
- Giesler, R., Högberg, M. and Högberg, P. (1998). Soil chemistry and plants in Fennoscandian boreal forest as exemplified by a local gradient. *Ecology* 79(1): 119-137.
- Hallgren, L. E., Sjöberg, K. and Westling, O. (1996). Luftföroreningar i mellersta Sverige, IVL.
- Haycock, N. E., Pinay, G. and Walker, C. (1993). Nitrogen retention in river corridors: European perspective. *Ambio* 22(6): 340-346.
- Hill, A. R. (1996). Nitrate Removal In Stream Riparian Zones. J. Environ. Qual. 25(4): 743-755.
- Hill, A. R. and DeVito, K. J. (1997). Hydrological-chemical interactions in headwater forest wetlands. Northern forested wetlands: ecology and management. C. C. Trettin, M. F. Jurgensen, D. F. Grigal, M. R. Gale and J. K. Jeglum, CRC Press Inc.: 213-230.
- Jacks, G., Joelsson, A. and Fleischer, S. (1994). Nitrogen retention in forest wetlands. *Ambio* 23(6): 358-362.
- Karltun, E. (1995). Sulphate adsorption on variable-charge minerals in podzolized soils in relation to sulphur deposition and soil acidity.
 Department of Soil Science. Uppsala, Swedish University of Agricultural Science: 43.
- Laudon, H. and Bishop, K. H. (1999). Quantifying sources of acid neutralisation capacity depression during spring flood episodes in Northern Sweden. *Environ. Poll.* 105(3): 427-435.
- LaZerte, B. D. (1993). The impact of drought and acidification on the chemical exports from a minerotrophic conifer swamp. *Biogeochemistry* 18: 153-175.

- Lundin, L. (1982). Soil moisture and ground water in till soil and the significance of soil type for runoff, Uppsala university.
- Lundin, L. (1998). *Hydrochemical retention in mirelands*. Hydrology in a changing environment, Exeter, John Wiley & Sons.
- Löfgren, S. (1991). Influence of atmospheric nitrogen deposition on nitrogen leakage to surface water in forest ecosystem, Nordic Council of Ministers.
- Norrström, A. C. (1995). Acid-base status of soils in groundwater discharge zones — relation to surface water acidification. J. Hydrol. 169: ??
- Norrström, A. C. (1995). Chemistry at groundwater/surface water interfaces, Royal Institute of Technology.
- Olsson, H. and Löfgren, S. (1990). Tillförseln av kväve och fosfor till Havet. Rapport 3693, Naturvårdsverket.
- Pylvänäinen, P., Ed. (1993). Manual for integrated monitoring. UN ECE convention on long-range transboundary air pollution. Lisalmi, Environmental Data Centre.
- Rapp, L. (1998). Critical loads for surface waters: Validation and challenges. Dep. of Forest Ecology. Umeå, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences: 23.
- Rosén, K. and Lundmark-Thelin, A. (1986). Hyggesbruk och markvården. Skogsfakta Konferens 9: 42-49.
- Simmons, R. C., Gold, A. J. and Groffman, P. M. (1992). Nitrate dynamics in riparian forests: Groundwater studies. J. Environ. Qual. 21(4): 659-665.
- Smith, V. H. (1982). The nitrogen and phosphorus dependence of algal biomass in lakes: an empirical and theoretical analysis. *Limnol. Oceanogr.* 27: 1101-1112.
- Stark, J. M. and Hart, S. C. (1997). High rates of nitrification and nitrate turnover in undisturbed coniferous forests. *Nature* 2: 61-74.
- Tietema, A. (1998). Microbial carbon and nitrogen dynamics in coniferous forest floor material collected along a European nitrogen deposition gradient. *Forest Ecology and Management* 101(1-3): 29-36.
- Vitousek, P. M., Gosz, J. R., Grier, C. C., Melillo, J. M., Reiners, W. A. and Todd, R. L. (1979). Nitrate losses from disturbed ecosystems. *Science* 204: 469-474.

Wetzel, R. G. (1983). Limnology, Saunders College Publishing.

Wilander, A. (1995). Estimates of critical N concentration/load with respect to Eutrophication of freshwater. *Mapping and modelling of critical loads for nitrogen - a workshop report*. M. Hornung, M. A. Sutton and R. B. Wilson, Institute of Terrestrial Ecology (Edinburgh Research Station, UK): 173-177.

Wilander, A. (1997). Referenssjöarnas vattenkemi under 12 år; tillstånd och trender. Stockholm, Naturvårdsverket: 79.

Acknowledgement – Tack!

Arbetet med avhandlingen har varit intressant och ibland roligt men ofta slitsamt. Det är många som ska ha tack för att jag lyckats slutföra arbetet:

Först och främst vill jag tacka mina handledare för all möda de lagt ner. Särskilt under slutfasen av skrivandet fick dom slita hårt med att kommentera alla versioner av manusen. Lars Lundin har varit med under hela arbetet, lärt mig mycket om mark och vatten och huggit i i fält ibland. Lage Bringmark är en rik kunskapskälla att ösa ur, men framför allt har han varit uppmuntrande och gett positivt stöd, särskilt när det varit som mest motigt. Kevin Bishop kom in på slutet med friskt blod, och nya idéer som skapade lite hälsosam turbulens. Några andra medarbetare jag särskilt vill nämna är Stefan Löfgren som fick mig till institutionen och kom med idén till fältarbetet samt Anders Wilander. Stort och smått har vi diskuterat. Redox kemi, U-landsbistånd och figursymbolstorlekar.

Som sektionens första doktorand har jag känt ett särskilt stöd från hela institutionen, mer än vad de flesta doktorander får nöja sig med. Under tiden jag jobbat på institutionen har den förändrats mycket och det är framför allt vår prefekt, Ewa Bringmark, som betytt mycket för att skapa framåtanda och ett gott klimat att arbeta i. Annan lyx jag haft tillgång till är en datasektion som fixat allt datastrul och ett proffsigt lab som lyckades klämma in alla mina analyser i det ordinarie arbetet.

Under tiden har det dykt upp fler och fler meddoktorander. Det har gjort livet som doktorand både roligare och lättare. Jag ser fram emot fler fester och restaurangbesök. Elisabet Göransson och Leonard Sandin hjälpte dessutom till med fältarbetet. Det gjorde även Sven Eriksson, Johan Ekblom, Per Mossberg, Jakob Nisell, och Tommy Jansson. Maj och Walter i Nyberget bidrog även med trivseln under fältperioderna.

Till sist vill jag nämna min familj, Malin, Love och Sonja, som stått ut med att jag varit ute i fält och jobbat sent ibland. Tack för att ni finns. Nu ser jag fram emot att vara mer med er under föräldraledigheten.

Projektet finansierades delvis av EU/LIFE.